# DIGITAL INNOVATIONS AND MARKET PENETRATION AT KCB BANK KENYA LIMITED

BY:

## JACKLINE ATIENO MAGAK

A RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF
REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF DEGREE OF THE MASTER OF BUSINESS
ADMINISTRATION, FACULTY OF BUSINESS AND MANAGEMENT SCIENCE,
UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

## **DECLARATION**

I fully declare that this research project is my own effort and work and it has not been submitted for examination in any other university.

Om	27/11/2023
Signature	Date

## **JACKLINE ATIENO MAGAK**

## D61/6334/2017

I accept and admit that this research project has been accepted with my permission as the college mentor.

Signature Date: 27/11/2023

## Professor Jackson K Maalu

Department of Business Administration

Faculty of Business and Management Sciences,

University of Nairobi

#### **DEDICATION**

I dedicate this MBA research project to the pillars of my life, each contributing in unique ways to my journey of knowledge, growth, and perseverance.

To my beloved husband Job, your unwavering support, patience, and encouragement have been my anchor throughout this academic pursuit. Your belief in my capabilities has fuelled my determination, and your love has been my constant inspiration. Thank you for being my partner in every step of this journey.

To my precious kids Abigail, Jerry and Mark, you are the sunshine that brightens my darkest days. Your understanding of mommy's late-night study sessions and your unconditional love have been my motivation. I dedicate this work to you, with the hope that it inspires you to chase your dreams fearlessly.

To my parents Mr. and Mrs. Magak, for instilling in me the values of hard work, resilience, and the importance of education. Your sacrifices have paved the way for my academic pursuits, and this accomplishment is a tribute to your unwavering belief in my potential.

To my employer, I express my gratitude to my employer for providing me with the support and flexibility to pursue higher education. Your commitment to employee development has played a pivotal role in shaping my professional journey, and I am thankful for the opportunities to apply academic insights in the workplace.

To God, I humbly dedicate this project to the Almighty, the source of my strength and wisdom. Your divine guidance has been my compass, leading me through challenges and illuminating the path to success. I am profoundly grateful for the blessings and opportunities you have bestowed upon me.

May this research project stand as a testament to the love, guidance, and support that have enriched my life.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Faculty and staff, I express my appreciation to the faculty and staff of the MBA program for their commitment to academic excellence. Their dedication to fostering a rich learning environment has significantly contributed to my educational journey.

Classmates and peers, to my fellow classmates and peers, thank you for the collaborative spirit and shared knowledge. Your diverse perspectives and collective enthusiasm have enriched the academic discourse and made this journey more fulfilling.

Library and research support, I acknowledge the library staff and research support teams whose resources and assistance have been indispensable in the literature review and data analysis processes. Your commitment to facilitating scholarly endeavors has been a cornerstone of my research experience.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	2
DEDICATION	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	5
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONSi	X
ABSTRACT	X
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the Study	1
1.1.1 Digital Innovations	3
1.1.2 Market Penetration	4
1.1.3 KCB Bank Kenya Ltd	5
1.2 Research Problem	7
1.3 Objective of the Study	9
1.4 Value of the Study	9
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	1
2.1 Introduction	1
2.2 Theoretical Review	1
2.2.1 Diffusion of Innovation Theory	1
2.2.2 Ansoff Matrix Model	2

2.3 Digital Innovation and Market Penetration
2.4 Empirical Literature Review and Knowledge Gaps
2.5 Summary of Research Gaps9
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY11
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Research Design
3.3 Data Collection
3.4 Data Analysis
CHAPTER FOUR: DATA ANALYSIS, PRESENTATION AND DISCUSSION 14
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Demographic of the Participants14
4.3 Digital Innovations
4.3.1 Digital Apps and Mobile Technologies
4.3.2 Digital Channels and Platforms
4.3.3 Data Analytics
4.3.4 Digital Offerings
4.3.5 Digital Initiatives
4.3.6 Data Privacy and Security
4.4 Market Penetration
4.5 Digital Innovations and Market Penetration

4.6 Discussion	n of the Fin	dings				21
CHAPTER	FIVE:	SUMMARY	OF	FINDINGS,	CONCLUSIONS	AND
RECOMENI	DATIONS	•••••	•••••	•••••		23
5.1 Introduction	on					23
5.2 Summary	of the Stud	y Findings				23
5.3 Conclusion	ns of the St	tudy				24
5.4 Recomme	ndations of	the Study				25
5.4.1 Recon	nmendatior	ns for Digital Mar	nagers			25
5.4.2 Recon	nmendatior	ns for Policy Mak	ers			26
5.5 Limitation	s of the Stu	ıdy				26
5.6 Suggestion	ns for Furth	ner Research				27
REFERENC	ES	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••	28
APPENDIX.	••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••		33
Appendix I:	Interview	Guide				33
Appendix II	[: Data Col	lection Letter				36

# ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

**ATM:** Automated Teller Machine

**CBK:** Central Bank of Kenya

CMA: Capital Markets Authority

**CRM:** Client Relationship Management

**KCB:** Kenya Commercial Bank

**KDIC:** Kenya Deposit Insurance Corporation

**KPI:** Key Performance Indicator

**SME:** Small and Medium Enterprises

#### **ABSTRACT**

In today's dynamic business landscape, innovations, particularly digital innovations, play a crucial role in driving progress and market advancements. Digital innovations offer significant benefits to firms, particularly in enhancing market penetration strategies. Leveraging data analytics and digital platforms, companies gain insights into customer behaviour, preferences, and demographics, enabling targeted marketing efforts and personalized communication. This study was guided different theories dealing with innovations and market expansion by firms. The results noted that factors such as perceived attributes, communication channels, social systems, time, and the characteristics of potential adopters shape the adoption process. The Ansoff Matrix, developed by Igor Ansoff, assists organizations in determining growth strategies by analysing the relationship between current products and markets. In the context of Kenya, particularly in the banking sector, companies like KCB Bank recognize the potential of digital innovations in enhancing market penetration. By harnessing data insights, personalizing marketing efforts, and accessing global audiences through digital channels, firms amplify their ability to expand reach and establish a stronger market presence. Despite the recognized importance of digital innovations at KCB Bank Kenya Ltd, understanding their specific effects on market penetration remains a challenge. This research concluded that digital innovations promote the market penetration at KCB Bank Kenya Ltd. The study recommended the need for banks such as KCB to adopt proper digital innovation in the pursuit of their market expansion.

## **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

## 1.1 Background of the Study

Innovations refer to the creation and introduction of new ideas, products, processes, or methods that bring about positive changes, improvements, or novel solutions to address specific needs or problems (Liu, Ding & Wang, 2022). Innovations can involve making something better, more efficient, or entirely new, and they play a crucial role in driving progress and advancements in various fields, such as technology, business, healthcare, and more. However, digital innovations offer firms significant benefits in terms of enhancing their market penetration strategies. According to Ratchford (2019), the digital innovations mostly enable precise and targeted marketing efforts. Through data analytics and digital platforms, companies have the ability to gather valuable insights into customer behaviour, preferences, and demographics. This data-driven approach allows firms to tailor their marketing messages and promotions to specific segments, increasing the chances of resonating with potential customers and driving higher conversion rates (Liu, Ding & Wang, 2022). For instance, personalized email campaigns, social media advertisements, and recommendation algorithms based on user preferences can effectively reach and engage potential customers, thus boosting market penetration. Othman et al. (2020) noted that digital innovations facilitate the expansion of a firm's geographical reach since e-commerce platforms and online marketplaces break down physical barriers, enabling companies to tap into new markets and customer bases. Latzer, Matsuyama and Parenti (2019) also argued that businesses can establish an online presence and cater to customers beyond their local regions without the need for extensive physical infrastructure. Furthermore, digital innovations offer cost-effective ways to test new

markets before committing substantial resources, reducing the risks associated with market expansion (Ratchford, 2019).

This study was guided by models. This included the diffusion theory of innovation as well as the Ansoff Matrix Model. The Diffusion of Innovation Theory, developed by Everett Rogers (1962), explains how and why innovations, such as new technologies or ideas, spread and are adopted within a society or among a target audience. The theory supports the incorporation of different factors in firm activities. The latter theory supports the need for market scope and expansion by firms in all programs (Ansoff, 1957).

In Kenya and other developing countries, many companies in the banking sector including KCB Bank have realized that digital innovations empower firms to enhance their market penetration strategies by providing tools for targeted marketing and enabling seamless entry into new markets (Awinja & Fatoki, 2021). This is because digital innovations have the ability to harness data insights, personalize marketing efforts, and access global audiences through digital channels and this significantly amplify a company's potential to expand its reach and establish a stronger market presence (Liu, Ding & Wang, 2022). In KCB Bank Kenya Ltd, it has been noted that digital innovations are promoting the success of the bank. However, how this affects the bank market penetration is still a challenge.

#### 1.1.1 Digital Innovations

Innovation is a multifaceted concept encompassing the deliberate generation and application of novel ideas, processes, products, or services that yield meaningful and positive changes within an organization, industry, or society (Bharadwaj et al., 2013). It involves the pursuit of creative solutions to existing challenges or the identification of opportunities for advancement, often resulting in increased efficiency, competitiveness, and societal progress. Innovation can manifest in various forms, including technological breakthroughs, strategic initiatives, organizational practices, or the introduction of entirely new offerings, and it remains a central driver of economic growth and societal development (Liu, Ding & Wang, 2022).

Digital innovations encompass a range of technological advancements that leverage digital technologies to create new products, services, processes, or business models. According to Westerman, Bonnet, and McAfee (2014), digital innovation refers to new digital products, processes, or business models that fundamentally change competition and create new sources of revenue and value. These innovations often emerge from the integration of digital capabilities, such as data analytics, artificial intelligence, and connectivity, into various aspects of organizations and industries (Bharadwaj et al., 2013).

Bharadwaj et al. (2013) further emphasize that digital innovations involve the creative utilization of digital technologies to improve customer experiences, streamline operations, and drive strategic differentiation. These innovations may lead to significant shifts in market dynamics and the ways businesses interact with their customers and stakeholders (Westerman et al., 2014). Furthermore, Berman and McCarthy (2020) state that digital innovations go beyond incremental improvements and instead represent transformative changes that have the potential to reshape entire industries.

This means that digital innovations encompass the strategic application of digital technologies to bring about fundamental changes in products, services, processes, and business models. These innovations are characterized by their potential to create new sources of value and revenue, drive customer-centric improvements, and disrupt existing market paradigms. It is digital platforms that allow firms to position themselves at the forefront of technological evolution, fostering growth and competitiveness in today's dynamic business landscape.

#### 1.1.2 Market Penetration

The concept of market penetration refers to the strategic approach employed by a company to increase its market share within an existing market or industry (Latzer, Matsuyama & Parenti, 2019). This can be achieved through various means such as increasing the sales volume of current products or services, expanding the customer base, or capturing a larger portion of the market's demand. Market penetration strategies typically focus on maximizing revenue and profitability from the company's existing offerings, often involving aggressive marketing campaigns, price adjustments, and distribution channel enhancements (Kotler & Armstrong, 2021). In many firms, market penetration is seen in terms of market share, the level of product adoption and the customer acquisition rate. It should also be noted that market penetration is important because it allows companies to gauge their success in capturing a share of the market and helps them identify growth opportunities (Kotler & Armstrong, 2021). By monitoring these measures, businesses can refine their strategies, allocate resources effectively, and adapt to changing market dynamics, ultimately enhancing their competitive position and profitability (Latzer, Matsuyama & Parenti, 2019).

Firms must take strategic views and this strategic direction aims to exploit untapped potential within the company's current customer base and market environment. Additionally, Doyle and

Stern (2006) emphasize that market penetration strategies often prioritize generating sales growth and capturing a larger share of consumer spending by convincing existing customers to buy more frequently or in larger quantities.

Market penetration remains a critical concern for businesses today, as increasing competition, changing consumer preferences, and evolving technologies demand continuous adaptation (Latzer, Matsuyama & Parenti, 2019). Staying relevant and capturing market share requires a strategic approach that includes effective digital marketing, product innovation, and an emphasis on customer experience to reach and resonate with a broader audience in an ever-shifting landscape (Kotler & Armstrong, 2021).

## 1.1.3 KCB Bank Kenya Ltd

The banking industry in Kenya has undergone significant transformation and growth, making it one of the most dynamic and influential sectors in the country's economy. The industry is characterized by a mix of local and international banks and currently provides different services particularly in the realm of mobile banking and digital financial services. The introduction of mobile money platforms like M-Pesa has had a transformative effect on financial inclusion, allowing even those without traditional bank accounts to access basic financial services such as money transfer, savings, and microloans. This innovation has not only improved the lives of millions of Kenyans but has also caught the attention of global financial institutions and technology companies interested in replicating Kenya's success in other regions.

Today, there are 38 commercial banks in Kenya and the in the banking industry of Kenya, several key players and regulators shape its landscape (CBK, 2023). Some prominent commercial banks include Equity Bank, KCB Bank, and Cooperative Bank, which have a significant market share

and a wide network of branches across the country. The Central Bank of Kenya serves as the primary regulator, overseeing the monetary policy and financial stability of the sector. Additionally, the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) plays a vital role in regulating and supervising capital markets activities, while the Kenya Deposit Insurance Corporation (KDIC) ensures the protection of depositors' funds by providing deposit insurance (CBK, 2023). These institutions collectively contribute to the stability and growth of Kenya's dynamic banking industry.

Competition within the Kenyan banking industry has led to a focus on improving customer experience and expanding service offerings. Banks have increasingly adopted customer-centric approaches, enhancing convenience through online and mobile banking platforms, while also exploring new products and partnerships to cater to diverse customer needs. The banking industry's continued growth has been crucial in supporting Kenya's economic development, with banks playing a significant role in providing financing for businesses, agriculture, infrastructure, and various other sectors.

KCB Bank Kenya Limited is one of best in EAC region. The bank provides different services. It was launched in early 1896 and currently operates in more than three countries. KCB Bank has also expanded its operations beyond Kenya's borders, establishing a presence in several African countries, contributing to its status as a leading financial institution on the continent.

KCB Bank has been known for its efforts to embrace technological advancements to enhance its services and reach. It has invested in digital banking solutions and mobile banking platforms, enabling customers to access their accounts, conduct transactions, and manage finances conveniently through digital channels. Additionally, the bank has shown a commitment to promoting financial inclusion by extending services to underserved and remote areas, helping to

bridge the gap between urban and rural populations in terms of access to banking services. KCB Bank's growth and success over the years have positioned it as a key player in driving economic development and financial stability in Kenya and the broader East African region.

#### 1.2 Research Problem

Digital innovations have had significant effects on market penetration (Othman et al., 2020). Analysis also reveals that companies can expand their market penetration beyond their local regions, reaching customers in different countries and cultures using digital innovations. According to Ratchford (2019), digital innovations have the power to lower the barriers for entry into new markets. Startups and small businesses mostly leverage digital platforms and tools to establish an online presence without the need for significant upfront investments in physical infrastructure and this drive their market penetrations. In addition, digital technologies provide valuable data insights that enable businesses to understand their target markets better. This also allow firm to gather information about customer behaviours, preferences, and trends, allowing for more effective targeting and product development (Khajezadeh et al., 2019).

In Kenya, despite the effectiveness of digital innovations in promoting market penetrations, many banks including KCB Bank are still not adopting these digital tools in their major operations. KCB Bank Kenya Ltd is facing various challenges in their digital innovations, especially towards promoting market penetration. This is partly due to the view that the main challenges of digital innovations include the rapid pace of technological change, which can make it difficult for businesses to keep up and adapt, and concerns around data security and privacy, as the increasing reliance on digital platforms exposes both companies and consumers to potential cyber threats and

breaches. These challenges require further study to evaluate how the banks can use digital innovations to promote their market penetrations.

Various research endeavors have delved into the impact of digital innovations on expanding market presence for businesses worldwide. A notable study by Eferin, Hohlov, and Rossotto (2019) explored the dynamics of digital platform emergence in Russia, revealing a landscape where healthy competition between domestic and foreign Managed Service Providers (MSPs) resulted in a shared equilibrium. Local platforms managed to secure significant market shares, often surpassing those of foreign and global counterparts. It is important to note, however, that this investigation specifically focused on the Russian context.

In contrast, Aduba and Asgari (2022) directed their attention to Nigeria, examining the diffusion of electronic payment systems. Their findings illustrated a typical trajectory of technological innovations, characterized by phases of growth, maturity, saturation, and decline. The study also anticipated that mobile payment systems would predominate as the most widely adopted payment technology, driven by the projected increase in financial transactions conducted through this platform. Nevertheless, it is essential to highlight that this research was centered on Nigeria, not Kenya.

Moving to Kenya, Awinja and Fatoki (2021) conducted a study investigating the influence of digital financial services on the growth of Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs). Within the context of the digital economy, which provides a framework for enterprises to operate and deliver services through online platforms, the study involved a sample of 1000 formally registered SMEs, with 300 randomly selected for questionnaire-based data collection. The study, utilizing a cross-sectional design rather than a case study approach, discovered that digital financial services

played a significant role in fostering the growth of SMEs in Kenya. Notably, the findings emphasized the prevalence of mobile payments as a preferred method for financial transactions.

From this review, the analysis confirms that little known studies have been done to determine the effects of digital innovations on market penetration at KCB Bank Kenya. In addition, the studies mostly adopted quantitative models and there is a need for more qualitative research to provide an understanding on how companies in the banking industry can use digital innovations to promote their market penetration. Since few studies have been done under this concept, this study will aim to fill the methodological, conceptual and contextual gaps by addressing the following research question: How has the adoption of digital innovations by KCB Bank Kenya Limited contributed to its market penetration strategy and overall success in the Kenyan banking sector?

## 1.3 Objective of the Study

The objective of this study was to evaluate the influence of digital Innovations and Market Penetration at KCB Bank Kenya Limited.

#### 1.4 Value of the Study

The research will benefit various stakeholders. This will include the practitioners in the banking industry. The bank managers in various banks in Kenya will use the findings to understand how digital innovations will promote their market penetration. This is because they will be able to comprehend and evaluate how digital innovations influence the market penetration in their working spaces.

Moreover, government and policy makers will also benefit from the study in the sense that they will use the findings of this research to define and evaluate how digital innovation policies can promote market penetration among banks in the country. This study will also aid the policy makers and government with developing policies and laws associated with digital innovations and market penetration among firms in the country.

Future scholars and researchers will use the study findings in guiding their future studies. The study will act as a reference point in analysis issues associated with the digital innovations and market penetration concepts. Specifically, this study will pave way for further research and provide points of reference to other academicians and researchers.

## **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Introduction

The study explored a number of previous but relevant studies, focusing mainly on available information related to the topic of the study. This chapter covers the theoretical background, discussion of the theories and concepts of the study and how they relate. The chapter also delves on empirical review and knowledge gaps on the relationship between digital innovations and market penetration among firms.

#### 2.2 Theoretical Review

The study was based on different models. This is well noted below.

## **2.2.1 Diffusion of Innovation Theory**

Everett M. Rogers in 1962 founded the model (Rogers, 2003). The theory explores how innovations spread and is adopted by individuals or groups within a society. It provides insights into the processes and factors that influence the acceptance and adoption of new ideas, technologies, or products (Rogers, 2003).

The theory states that the adoption of innovations follows a predictable pattern characterized by different categories of adopters (Okour et al., 2021). Rogers categorized adopters into five groups. This includes those who adopt it earlier and those who can adopt it later. This is important in their success (Sartipi, 2020).

Assumptions of the theory include the idea that innovations have varying degrees of power (Dearing & Cox, 2018). Additionally, communication channels play a crucial role in spreading

information about innovations, and social systems and norms can either facilitate or hinder adoption (Rogers, 2003). Firms should manage their operations.

One critique of the Diffusion of Innovation Theory is that it may oversimplify the adoption process by assuming a linear progression through adopter categories (Rogers, 2003). In reality, adoption can be more complex and context-specific. Moreover, the theory does not always account for the role of external factors like market dynamics and competition in the adoption process (Sartipi, 2020).

However, the theory remains relevant, especially in the context of market penetration and digital innovations (Dawes, 2018). Understanding the characteristics and behaviours of potential adopters can help businesses tailor their marketing strategies to target specific adopter categories effectively. In the digital age, where new technologies and innovations are rapidly emerging firms can use the model to promote their value (Rogers, 2003).

#### 2.2.2 Ansoff Matrix Model

It is associated with Igor Ansoff in 1957 (Ansoff, 1957). It shows the firm current products and markets (Zanjani et al., 2020). The matrix outlines four growth strategies, each with its unique focus and risk level. This includes their market power (Tsatsoula, 2018).

Market penetration is the first strategy, which involves selling more of the current products to existing customers in the same market (Ansoff, 1957). This approach assumes that there is potential for growth within the current market and that the organization can gain a larger share of it. It aims to increase revenue and market share by improving customer loyalty or attracting new customers (Khajezadeh et al., 2019).

One critique of market penetration is that it may lead to over-reliance on a single market or product, making the organization vulnerable to market fluctuations (Ansoff, 1957). Moreover, it may not be sustainable in the long term if the market is saturated or if there is limited growth potential (Dawes, 2018). However, it is a relevant and valuable strategy in situations where there is untapped demand in the existing market (Tsatsoula, 2018).

Market development, the second strategy, involves taking existing products and expanding into new markets (Dawes, 2018). This strategy assumes that the organization's products or services have the potential to appeal to a different set of customers or geographic regions (Ansoff, 1957). It can be particularly relevant when the current market is saturated or when the organization seeks to diversify its customer base (Khajezadeh t al., 2019).

Product development, as the third strategy, entails the introduction of new products or services to an existing customer base (Zanjani et al., 2020). This approach is typically realized through innovation, research and development efforts, and the diversification of products or services to align with changing customer demands and preferences (Dosi, 1988). Diversification, as the fourth strategy, encompasses venturing into new markets either by creating entirely novel products or services for previously untapped markets or by entering unrelated markets with innovative products or services (Ansoff, 1957).

One critique is that market development can be challenging due to cultural, regulatory, and competitive differences in new markets (Ansoff, 1957). Furthermore, it may require significant investments in market research, distribution channels, and marketing efforts (Khajezadeh t al., 2019). However, it is a viable strategy when there is a demand for the product or service in untapped markets and when the organization possesses the resources and capabilities to enter these

new markets effectively (Tsatsoula, 2018). Market penetration and market development are two of the matrix's strategies and these strategies provide businesses with structured approaches to expand their operations and sustain growth while being mindful of the risks associated with each approach (Ansoff, 1957).

## 2.3 Digital Innovation and Market Penetration

The interconnection between digital innovation and market penetration is significantly influenced by well-established theories and strategic models. These conceptual frameworks provide organizations with valuable insights into the dynamics of innovation adoption, the identification of potential adopters, and the alignment of growth strategies with their current market conditions and product offerings.

In summary, the interaction between digital innovation and market penetration is intricately intertwined with these theories and models. They equip organizations with the necessary tools to understand how innovations diffuse, identify potential adopter categories, and strategically align their growth efforts with the ever-evolving digital landscape. In today's digital age, these frameworks are indispensable instruments for organizations seeking to effectively harness digital innovations, ultimately achieving successful market penetration and sustained growth.

#### 2.4 Empirical Literature Review and Knowledge Gaps

Digital innovations have fundamentally reshaped the business landscape globally, influencing market penetration strategies among firms. The tools have provided firms with new avenues to expand their market presence. Literature suggests that digital innovations have become critical drivers of market penetration, allowing firms to reach wider audiences and capture market share.

One key aspect of digital innovations in market penetration is the role of online platforms and e-commerce. Research by Chaffey and Ellis-Chadwick (2019) highlights the significance of digital marketing strategies and online sales channels in reaching global markets efficiently. Firms can leverage e-commerce platforms to access international customers and reduce the barriers associated with traditional brick-and-mortar expansion (Dawes, 2018).

Furthermore, the adoption of digital innovations like social media marketing and search engine optimization (SEO) has been explored as essential tools for market penetration. Research by Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) suggests that social media platforms offer opportunities for firms to engage with customers worldwide and build brand recognition. SEO, as discussed by Tuten and Solomon (2017), helps firms improve their online visibility, attracting potential customers and facilitating market entry.

Moreover, digital innovations have also transformed internal operations within firms, enabling them to penetrate global markets more efficiently. Research by Brynjolfsson and McAfee (2014) highlights how data analytics and automation enhance firms' supply chain management, allowing for streamlined operations and reduced costs, which are crucial factors for global market penetration. This confirms that digital innovations have become indispensable tools for firms aiming to penetrate global markets. Whether through e-commerce, digital marketing, or data-driven operations, these innovations have opened up new possibilities for firms to expand their market reach, gain competitive advantages, and capitalize on global opportunities.

Nambisan, Lyytinen and Yoo (2020) also noted that the rise of e-commerce has also significantly impacted market penetration and today businesses can set up online stores and sell directly to consumers, eliminating the need for intermediaries and expanding their reach to customers who

prefer online shopping. All these digital innovations promote market penetration and it can be argued that digital innovations have revolutionized market penetration by enabling businesses to expand their reach, gather valuable data, personalize marketing efforts, and leverage various digital channels to connect with potential customers. The effects are far-reaching and have reshaped the way companies approach their market expansion strategies (Latzer et al., 2019).

Numerous investigations have explored the role of digital innovations in enhancing global market penetration for businesses. Within the Chinese context, Liu, Ding, and Wang (2022) delved into the intricate dynamics of the digital economy's direct and indirect impacts on fostering environmentally conscious high-quality industrial development. Their research, spanning from 2012 to 2020, utilized a comprehensive approach encompassing baseline regression, spatial spillover effects, intermediary effects, and threshold effects across 31 provinces and cities in China. Notably, the findings unveiled a nonlinear and positive correlation between the digital economy and the green high-quality development of industry. Technological innovation emerged as a crucial mediating factor, exhibiting a threshold effect that, when surpassed, intensified its influence. Spatial spillover analysis underscored the promotion of environmentally sustainable development both within and between regions. However, it's crucial to note that this study specifically focused on China and employed a longitudinal research design.

Shifting the focus to India, Gupta et al. (2021) conducted an exploration into the factors influencing innovation performance among entrepreneurs in the country. Utilizing a questionnaire survey, they gathered insights from 164 entrepreneurs, including CEOs, owners, managers, or founders of startups in India. Employing the structural equation model technique for data analysis, the results highlighted entrepreneurs' keen interest in leveraging social media for obtaining individual

consumer reviews concerning their marketing initiatives, product development, and overall innovation endeavors. Importantly, it's essential to recognize that this study was specifically conducted within the Indian entrepreneurial landscape.

In Turkey, Akhisar, Tunay, and Tunay in 2015 investigated how innovations, particularly in the realm of electronic banking services, impact the performance of banks. The study aimed at shedding light on the relationship between technological advancements and the financial performance of banks. The research employed a quantitative approach, likely involving data analysis and statistical methods, to assess the effects of innovations. The study noted that the adoption of electronic banking services, the development of new technological features, or changes in customer behaviour due to these innovations promoted the success of the banks. The banks adopted various innovations such as online banking, mobile banking apps, ATM networks, and other technology-driven solutions. However, the study was based on the concept of performance and was done in Turkey.

In Ghana, YuSheng and Ibrahim (2019) delved into the relationship between service innovation, service delivery, and their impact on customer satisfaction and loyalty within the banking industry in Ghana. The study employed a research framework that investigates the interplay between three key components including service innovation, service delivery and customer satisfaction. The authors noted that the introduction of new technologies, processes, or approaches was important in enhancing the quality and variety of services offered to customers. This encompasses the processes, methods, and channels through which customers interact with banks, including traditional branches, online platforms, mobile apps, and ATMs. It was also noted that customer satisfaction reflects how content and pleased customers are with the services they receive, while

loyalty pertains to the likelihood of customers remaining loyal to a particular bank and continuing to use its services. However, this study was done using cross-sectional design and it was done with banking customers in Ghana.

In Nigeria, Akani and Tony-Obiosa (2020) noted that the adoption and implementation of financial innovations promoted firm success in the region. Financial innovations in the study included financial products, services, or technologies aimed at improving the efficiency, accessibility, or diversification of banking services. In this study, data was collected using survey model.

In the early months of 2023, Kombe (2023) conducted an assessment of the impact of financial innovations on the performance of commercial banks within the Kenyan landscape. The study emphasized the significance of understanding how these innovations influence the operational aspects of Kenya's commercial banks. Employing a literature review methodology, Kombe's findings revealed a positive correlation between financial innovations and enhanced financial performance. Noteworthy outcomes included heightened transaction volumes, increased convenience for customers, and reduced operational costs. The study underscored that banks incorporating financial innovations are better positioned to elevate revenue streams and customer satisfaction, integral components contributing to overall enhanced performance. The report also advocated for regulatory frameworks that foster an environment conducive to ongoing banking innovation. It is essential to note that this investigation primarily delved into the concept of firm performance, as opposed to market penetrations.

A separate study by Awinja and Fatoki (2021) explored the impact of digital financial services on the growth of Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs) in Kenya. Recognizing the digital economy as a transformative business environment, the research, encompassing a sample of 1000 formally registered SMEs, highlighted the significance of digital financial services in fostering SME growth. Utilizing a cross-sectional design and a random sample of 300 SMEs, the study revealed a 60% response rate from the distributed questionnaires. The findings indicated that digital financial services played a crucial role in ensuring the growth of SMEs in Kenya, with mobile payments emerging as a favored method for financial transactions.

Furthermore, a study by Aduda and Kingoo (2012) delved into the relationship between the adoption of electronic banking services and the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. Examining the extent of electronic banking services adoption, including online banking, mobile banking, ATMs, and electronic funds transfers, the study, conducted in late 2012, highlighted that embracing electronic banking services contributed to the competitiveness of the banking sector in Kenya. However, it's important to note that this study was focused on electronic banking in general and was conducted in a different temporal context.

#### 2.5 Summary of Research Gaps

Research on digital innovations and their impact on market penetration strategies have made significant strides, but several research gaps remain. Conceptually, the literature highlights the transformative role of digital technologies in expanding market reach and capturing market share. However, there is a need for more comprehensive studies that delve into the nuances of how different types of digital innovations, such as e-commerce, social media marketing, search engine optimization, and data analytics, impact market penetration strategies. Understanding the relative importance of these innovations and how they interact within the broader digital ecosystem could provide valuable insights for businesses.

Contextually, there is a geographical bias in the existing research, with most studies concentrated in specific regions (e.g., China, India, Turkey, Ghana and Nigeria). To establish the generalizability of findings, future research should explore the impact of digital innovations on market penetration in diverse global contexts. This will help identify contextual factors that may moderate the relationship between digital innovations and market penetration and allow for more comprehensive recommendations for firms operating in various regions.

Methodologically, the research landscape predominantly employs cross-sectional designs, which provide snapshots of the relationships between digital innovations and market penetration at specific points in time. While these studies offer valuable insights, there is a need for more longitudinal research to track the long-term effects and trends of digital innovations on market penetration. Additionally, adopting a more comparative approach across industries and sectors could yield insights into sector-specific dynamics and strategies for market penetration. Overall, addressing these conceptual, contextual, and methodological gaps will advance our understanding of how digital innovations shape market penetration strategies on a global scale.

3.1 Introduction

This section provides the research methodology and covers data analysis, data collection as well

as the research design. The chapter also explains the model that will guide the study.

3.2 Research Design

The study adopted a case study approach to evaluate the effects of digital innovations on Market

penetration at KCB Bank Kenya Limited. The selected case study, focusing on KCB Bank Kenya

Limited, proved to be highly effective in delivering a comprehensive exploration of a specific

context. Its efficacy lay in the capacity to furnish a profound understanding of the subject matter.

By employing the case study methodology, the researcher was able to delve deeply into the

intricacies of the study's focal point, ensuring a thorough and detailed examination of the chosen

topic.

Moreover, the case study approach is widely utilized in research due to its ability to provide in-

depth understanding and rich insights into a specific context or phenomenon (Baxter & Jack,

2008). It allowed the researcher to examine complex issues associated with the effects of digital

innovations on market penetration at KCB Bank Kenya Ltd. In addition, the case study approach

was particularly valuable since it provided an in-depth exploration of multiple variables and

holistic analysis for the research topic (Stake, 2005).

11

#### 3.3 Data Collection

Face-to-face interviews were conducted as the primary method of data collection in this study. This approach is justified because it enabled the researcher to engage directly with key stakeholders, such as bank managers within KCB Bank Kenya Ltd. In addition, the interview helped to obtain rich and detailed insights into their perspectives, experiences, and challenges regarding holistic analysis of the effects of digital innovations on market penetration at KCB. The target population was digital managers within KCB bank.

Furthermore, conducting face-to-face interviews was anticipated to facilitate probing and the opportunity for follow-up questions, thereby enriching the depth and quality of the collected data. The distinctive ability of face-to-face interviews to capture in-depth and nuanced information directly from participants was expected to yield crucial data, providing a valuable understanding of participants' experiences, perspectives, and insights. This approach enabled the acquisition of new knowledge by allowing for clarifications, exploring specific aspects of participants' responses, and fostering rapport between the researcher and participant. Creating a comfortable environment through face-to-face interviews encouraged participants to openly share their thoughts and experiences, contributing to the overall success of the study.

## 3.4 Data Analysis

This deals with qualities, characteristics, and attributes that cannot be easily measured with numbers (Yin, 2014). Qualitative data is typically gathered through methods such as interviews, surveys, observations, or open-ended questionnaires, and it is used to explore, understand, and interpret aspects of human behaviour, opinions, emotions, or experiences. This type of data is valuable for gaining insights into the "why" and "how" of a phenomenon and is often contrasted

with quantitative data, which consists of numerical values and statistical measurements. Qualitative data can be analysed through techniques like content analysis or thematic coding to extract meaningful patterns and themes.

Content analysis was employed as the data analysis technique for this study. Content analysis is justified as it allows for the systematic examination of interview transcripts, documents, and other textual data to identify patterns, themes, and meanings related to the relationship between digital innovations and market penetration at KCB Bank Kenya Ltd. According to Elo and Kyngäs (2008), content analysis holds significant importance in qualitative research due to its ability to systematically analyse and interpret textual data. Through a rigorous and structured approach, content analysis helps researchers uncover patterns, themes, and meanings within qualitative data, providing valuable insights and supporting the development of robust and meaningful findings (Yin, 2014).

4.1 Introduction

This section avails a presentation of analysed information as well as findings and results derived

from respondents. Data from respondents was analysed based on the current insights and

knowledge. After the analysis, the data was subjected to discussion in compliance with the current

academic literature to arrive at sound conclusions for the study.

**4.2 Demographic of the Participants** 

The study was based on digital innovation information from KCB Bank. The researcher

interviewed 10 digital managers at the Bank. The study managed to maintain a 100% response rate

since all the managers were interviewed. Out of the 10 managers, seven were male while 3 were

female. This depict that the banks top management composed of more male than female.

**4.3 Digital Innovations** 

Some of the main digital innovations that have been adopted by the bank include digital

technologies, digital channels and platforms, digital initiatives as well as data analytics and digital

offerings. There are also issues dealing with data privacy and security

The analysis of the respondent's views indicated that digital technologies at KCB Bank have

undergone significant advancements in recent years. The bank has embraced various innovative

solutions to enhance its services and improve customer experiences. These technologies have

streamlined banking processes, providing customers with convenient and efficient ways to access

14

and manage their finances. KCB has also integrated advanced authentication measures to ensure the security of digital transactions.

In expanding its market presence, both locally and internationally, KCB has leveraged a range of digital channels and platforms. The bank has actively utilized social media, mobile apps, and online marketing to reach a wider customer base. KCB's digital initiatives have not only focused on customer acquisition but also on building a strong online presence to engage with existing customers. The bank has successfully implemented targeted digital campaigns to promote its services, driving awareness and attracting new clients. Through strategic partnerships and collaborations with fin-tech companies, KCB has been able to stay at the forefront of digital banking trends and offer innovative solutions to its customers.

## 4.3.1 Digital Apps and Mobile Technologies

The analysis revealed that KCB Bank has strategically employed various digital technologies in its operations to bolster market penetration. In recent years, the bank has implemented innovative digital solutions, including mobile banking apps, online account management platforms, and digital payment systems. These technologies have played a pivotal role in enhancing the overall customer experience by providing convenient and efficient avenues for banking transactions. The digital platforms have become key touch points for customers, offering them the flexibility to manage their finances seamlessly. One manager said and I quote:

We employ digital applications for banking, fostering interactions with our customers. I am confident that our superior apps play a crucial role in effectively managing our operations.

#### **4.3.2 Digital Channels and Platforms**

The managers argued that to expand its market presence, both locally and internationally, KCB Bank has leveraged digital channels and platforms effectively. The bank has utilized social media platforms, mobile apps, and online marketing to engage with a broader audience. This approach has facilitated the bank's outreach efforts, creating awareness and attracting new customers. KCB's digital initiatives have been instrumental in increasing market share and customer acquisition. By embracing digital marketing campaigns and targeted promotions, the bank has successfully translated its online presence into tangible business growth. One manager said and I quote:

We utilize various platforms, including Twitter Spaces and Facebook pages, to actively engage with our customers. Additionally, our well-maintained website serves as a comprehensive and upto-date hub for information.

#### **4.3.3 Data Analytics**

The information gathered from the respondents noted that data analytics has played a crucial role in KCB Bank's strategy, helping identify market penetration opportunities and optimize digital initiatives. The bank leverages data analytics to gain insights into customer behaviour, preferences, and trends. This information guides decision-making processes, enabling KCB to tailor its digital strategies to align with market demands. The managers noted that through the analysis of key metrics and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), KCB Bank measures the impact of its digital innovations on market penetration. This data-driven approach allows the bank to refine its digital offerings and continually enhance its market position. One manager said and I quote:

Given the current widespread integration of AI, we recognize the importance of leveraging its capabilities and collaborating with key stakeholders to manage our systems. Data plays a crucial role in enhancing our understanding of our customers.

# **4.3.4 Digital Offerings**

In terms of digital offerings, the managers argued that KCB Bank ensures alignment with customer preferences by actively seeking feedback and staying attuned to market demands. The bank prioritizes a customer-centric approach, tailoring its digital innovations to meet the evolving needs of its diverse customer base. Simultaneously, KCB places a strong emphasis on data privacy and security in its digital operations. The bank employs robust cybersecurity measures to safeguard customer information, ensuring a secure environment for digital transactions. This commitment to data privacy and security enhances customer trust and confidence in KCB's digital offerings, further supporting market penetration efforts.

One manager said and I quote: We provide various platforms to assess and understand our customers. In many instances, we incorporate customer value into our digital offerings.

## **4.3.5 Digital Initiatives**

The analysis of the bank manager's opinions indicated that KCB Bank has been proactive in implementing digital initiatives to drive market penetration. One notable initiative is the development and promotion of user-friendly mobile banking applications. These applications provide customers with a convenient and accessible platform to perform various transactions, from checking account balances to making payments. KCB's digital initiatives also extend to online account management platforms, allowing customers to handle their finances efficiently from the comfort of their homes. One manager said and I quote:

KCB Bank stands out as a leader in initiating digital models, and we firmly believe that this has been a pivotal factor in catering to the needs of the youth.

Some managers noted that by embracing these initiatives, the bank not only enhances customer experience but also attracts a new segment of users who prioritize the flexibility and convenience offered by digital banking solutions. Furthermore, KCB has strategically utilized digital marketing campaigns and promotions to create awareness and entice customers to engage with these innovative offerings, contributing significantly to market penetration. This is important for the bank's success.

## 4.3.6 Data Privacy and Security

In the realm of data privacy and security, the managers noted that KCB Bank places paramount importance on safeguarding customer information and transactions. The bank employs state-of-the-art encryption technologies to secure digital channels and platforms, ensuring that sensitive data remains confidential and protected from unauthorized access. This commitment to data security is crucial for building and maintaining customer trust, a cornerstone for successful market penetration. This was said by one manager:

The bank places a high value on the privacy and data security of both its employees and customers.

We take pride in safeguarding our customers' data, aiming to avoid any potential regulatory challenges.

Some of the managers argued that KCB adheres to strict regulatory standards and constantly updates its security protocols to stay ahead of emerging threats, mitigating potential risks associated with digital transactions. By prioritizing data privacy and security, KCB not only reassures existing customers but also attracts new users who prioritize a secure banking

environment. This proactive approach contributes significantly to the bank's market penetration strategy, positioning KCB as a trustworthy and secure choice for customers embracing digital banking solutions.

## **4.4 Market Penetration**

The analysis of the respondents noted that KCB Bank has faced challenges in implementing digital innovations for market penetration, including addressing concerns related to data privacy and security. The bank has responded to these challenges by investing in robust cybersecurity measures and ensuring compliance with data protection regulations. Additionally, KCB has actively sought customer feedback to understand their preferences and concerns regarding digital offerings. This customer-centric approach has allowed the bank to tailor its digital strategies to align with customer expectations and market demands.

One of the KCB managers noted and I quote- We are opening new branches within the country and this has been powered by our ability to use social and digital platforms. We market through these platforms and this is what has promoted our success and market entry in the local market.

The managers confirmed that digital innovations have had a significant impact on market penetration, particularly in specific market segments and regions. The adoption of digital banking solutions has been particularly notable in urban areas, where customers appreciate the convenience of online services. KCB Bank has successfully maintained a balance between traditional banking channels and digital offerings to cater to a diverse customer base. The bank recognizes the importance of adapting its strategies to different customer segments and demographics in various markets, ensuring that digital innovations resonate with the unique needs of each group. Looking

forward, KCB Bank plans to continue investing in digital innovation initiatives to further increase market penetration, staying competitive in the evolving digital banking landscape.

## **4.5 Digital Innovations and Market Penetration**

From the views of the respondents, it was evident that digital innovations have had a significant impact on market penetration for KCB Bank, particularly where the adoption of digital banking solutions is more pronounced. These innovations have not only increased customer acquisition but also expanded the bank's reach to a wider demographic.

Moreover, some managers noted that KCB's strategic use of digital marketing campaigns and promotions has effectively created awareness and generated interest in its digital offerings, contributing to market penetration. The bank's ability to adapt its digital strategies to cater to different customer segments and demographics has played a pivotal role in maximizing the impact of digital innovations on market penetration.

One manager argued- Our bank champions digital innovations, resulting in significant market penetration. This initiative has facilitated the establishment of new branches and the acquisition of a growing customer base through online channels.

Others also noted that as KCB continues to navigate the evolving digital banking landscape, the bank recognizes the need to strike a balance between traditional banking channels and digital offerings. This approach is vital to cater to diverse customer preferences and ensure a seamless transition for those who may still prefer traditional banking methods. Customer feedback has played a crucial role in shaping KCB's digital strategies, allowing the bank to refine its offerings based on user experiences and preferences. KCB remains competitive by staying agile and

responsive to emerging technologies, actively collaborating with fintech partners and stakeholders to drive innovation and enhance market penetration. The bank's commitment to adapting to future trends and technologies positions KCB to maintain and strengthen its market share in the dynamic digital banking environment.

## 4.6 Discussion of the Findings

The study indicated that in the realm of digital innovations, KCB Bank has made substantial strides across various fronts. Embracing cutting-edge digital technologies, the bank has implemented user-friendly mobile banking apps, online account management platforms, and secure digital payment systems. These technologies form the backbone of KCB's digital channels and platforms, providing customers with accessible and efficient avenues for managing their finances. Strategic digital initiatives, including targeted marketing campaigns, have significantly contributed to increased market share and customer acquisition. Data analytics plays a pivotal role in shaping KCB's digital strategies, offering valuable insights into customer behaviour and market trends. This data-driven approach allows the bank to measure the impact of its digital innovations on market penetration through specific metrics and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). KCB Bank's commitment to ensuring data privacy and security adds a layer of trust to its digital offerings, fostering a secure environment for digital transactions.

In the pursuit of market penetration, KCB Bank has encountered challenges such as varying levels of digital literacy among customers and concerns related to data privacy and security. However, the bank has proactively addressed these obstacles by investing in customer education programs and implementing robust cybersecurity measures. Market penetration has been particularly pronounced in urban areas, where the adoption of digital innovations is more prevalent. KCB has

successfully struck a balance between traditional banking channels and digital offerings to cater to diverse customer preferences, maximizing its reach. Customer feedback has played a pivotal role in shaping KCB's digital strategies, allowing the bank to refine its offerings based on user experiences and preferences. Overall, the relationship between digital innovations and market penetration at KCB Bank is marked by a strategic integration of technology, a commitment to addressing challenges, and a customer-centric approach that positions the bank for continued success in the digital banking landscape.

The analysis also revealed that KCB Bank has faced several challenges in implementing digital innovations for market penetration. One significant obstacle is the varying levels of digital literacy among its customer base, especially in certain regions where access to technology may be limited. To address this, KCB has invested in customer education and awareness programs, providing training sessions and resources to enhance digital literacy. Additionally, concerns related to data privacy and security has posed challenges, as some customers may be hesitant to adopt digital banking solutions due to these apprehensions. KCB has responded by implementing robust cyber management. By addressing these challenges head-on, KCB has been able to foster trust and confidence among its customers, mitigating barriers to digital adoption and facilitating market penetration.

# CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND

## RECOMENDATIONS

#### 5.1 Introduction

The study was undertaken with the objective of understanding the topic. The analysis of key summary and suggestions are provided. This is depicted below.

# **5.2 Summary of the Study Findings**

The study delved into the relationship between digital innovations and market penetration at KCB Bank Kenya Ltd, revealing a dynamic and strategic integration of technology to expand the bank's reach and enhance customer engagement. KCB's implementation of key digital technologies, including mobile banking apps and online platforms, has not only streamlined banking processes but has also paved the way for increased market penetration. These innovations have been particularly impactful in urban areas, where the adoption of digital banking solutions is more pronounced.

The findings indicated that in the realm of digital channels and platforms, KCB Bank has successfully leveraged social media, mobile apps, and online marketing to engage a wider audience. The strategic use of digital initiatives, such as targeted marketing campaigns, has led to measurable success in terms of market share and customer acquisition. The study highlighted the bank's commitment to data analytics, emphasizing its role in identifying market penetration opportunities and optimizing digital strategies. This data-driven approach allows KCB to measure the impact of its digital innovations through specific metrics and KPIs, providing valuable insights into customer behaviour and market trends.

Moreover, the findings of the study revealed that challenges such as varying levels of digital literacy and concerns about data privacy and security were acknowledged in the study. However, KCB Bank's proactive response to these obstacles, including customer education programs and robust cybersecurity measures, showcases a commitment to overcoming challenges and fostering a secure environment for digital transactions. The study underscores the importance of customer feedback in shaping KCB's digital strategies, emphasizing the bank's customer-centric approach. Overall, the findings illuminate a strategic and adaptive approach by KCB Bank, positioning itself competitively in the digital banking landscape and paving the way for sustained market penetration and growth.

## 5.3 Conclusions of the Study

This study illuminates a symbiotic relationship between digital innovations and market penetration at KCB Bank Kenya Ltd. The bank's strategic adoption of cutting-edge digital technologies, such as mobile banking apps and online platforms, has not only revolutionized the customer experience but has also significantly contributed to increased market penetration. The findings underscore the pivotal role of these digital initiatives in expanding the bank's reach, particularly in urban areas where the adoption of digital banking solutions is more pronounced. KCB's commitment to staying at the forefront of technological advancements positions it as a competitive player in the dynamic financial landscape, ensuring a sustained and impactful market presence.

The study revealed that KCB Bank's success in market penetration is intricately tied to its adept navigation of challenges related to digital literacy and concerns about data privacy and security. The proactive measures taken, including customer education programs and robust cybersecurity measures, demonstrate the bank's commitment to overcoming obstacles and fostering a secure

environment for digital transactions. As such, the study concluded that the data-driven approach not only aids in the optimization of digital initiatives but also serves as a crucial tool for measuring the impact of these innovations on market penetration through specific metrics and KPIs.

Moreover, the study concluded that the bank's ability to balance traditional banking channels with digital offerings, adapt strategies to cater to diverse customer segments, and collaborate with fintech partners positions it well for future success. As the financial landscape continues to evolve, KCB's commitment to staying competitive in the rapidly changing digital banking landscape bodes well for its sustained market share and penetration.

## **5.4 Recommendations of the Study**

## **5.4.1 Recommendations for Digital Managers**

Digital managers at KCB Bank should continue to prioritize user-centric digital innovations that cater to the diverse needs and preferences of their customer base. This could involve further enhancements to existing digital technologies, such as refining mobile banking apps for an even more intuitive user experience and incorporating additional features that address specific customer pain points. Regularly collecting and analysing user feedback will be crucial in identifying areas for improvement and ensuring that digital offerings align seamlessly with customer expectations. Furthermore, exploring emerging technologies such as artificial intelligence and machine learning can provide innovative solutions that set KCB apart in the digital banking landscape. Collaborating with fin-tech partners can also offer opportunities for staying ahead of industry trends and gaining insights into cutting-edge technologies.

## **5.4.2 Recommendations for Policy Makers**

Policy makers should focus on developing and implementing robust data privacy and security policies that align with regulatory standards and address customer concerns. Strengthening cybersecurity measures and regularly updating protocols will be essential in maintaining the trust of customers and mitigating potential risks associated with digital transactions. Additionally, policy makers should consider expanding customer education initiatives to improve digital literacy, especially in regions where adoption may be hindered by lower levels of technological familiarity. This proactive approach will empower customers to fully embrace digital offerings, contributing to increased market penetration. Finally, policy makers should foster a culture of adaptability and innovation within the organization, encouraging collaboration between different departments to ensure a cohesive and unified approach to digital strategy implementation.

# **5.5 Limitations of the Study**

This research is inherently retrospective, relying on interviews. One limitation of an interview guide in data research is the potential for response bias. Participants may have provided answers that they perceive as socially desirable or that align with what they believe the interviewer wants to hear. This bias can skew the data and lead to inaccurate or incomplete insights. However, to mitigate these limitations, the researcher adopted neutral language to design the interview guides, used open-ended questions, and employed techniques to create a comfortable and non-judgmental environment for participants to encourage honest and authentic responses. The researcher also assured the respondents that the study was meant for academic purposes only.

# **5.6 Suggestions for Further Research**

There is need for longitudinal approach that would allow researchers to track the continued development of the bank's digital strategies, providing a more nuanced understanding of the long-term effects and adaptability of these innovations. Moreover, conducting a study on data privacy and security challenges can help yield different results among banks. There is need for a study focusing on the topic on all banks in Kenya.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Aduba, J. J., & Asgari, B. (2022). Analysing and forecasting the diffusion of electronic payments system in Nigeria. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, 34(10), 1215-1233.
  - Aduda, J., & Kingoo, N. (2012). The relationship between electronic banking and financial performance among commercial banks in Kenya. *Journal of finance and investment analysis*, *1*(3), 99-118.
- Akani, H. W., & Tony–Obiosa, R. (2020). Effects of financial innovations on the profitability of deposit money banks in Nigeria. *European Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Finance Research*, 8(1), 52-73.
- Akhisar, I., Tunay, K. B., & Tunay, N. (2015). The effects of innovations on bank performance:

  The case of electronic banking services. *Procedia-Social and Behavioural Sciences*, 195, 369-375.
  - Ansoff, I. (1957). Strategies for diversification. Harvard Business Review, 35(5), 113-124.
- Awinja, N. N., & Fatoki, O. I. (2021). Effect of digital financial services on the growth of SMEs in Kenya. *African Journal of Empirical Research*, 2(1), 79-94.
  - Berman, S. J., & McCarthy, I. P. (2020). Digital transformation: Change at the speed of business. Routledge.
  - Bharadwaj, A. S., El Sawy, O. A., Pavlou, P. A., & Venkatraman, N. (2013). Digital business strategy: Toward a next generation of insights. *MIS Quarterly*, 37(2), 471-482.

- Dosi, G. (1988). Sources, Procedures, and Microeconomic Effects of Innovation. Journal of Economic Literature, 26(3), 1120-1171.
- Doyle, P., & Stern, P. (2006). Marketing Management and Strategy (4th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Eferin, Y., Hohlov, Y., & Rossotto, C. (2019). Digital platforms in Russia: competition between national and foreign multi-sided platforms stimulates growth and innovation. *Digital Policy, Regulation and Governance*, 21(2), 129-145.
  - Gupta, S., Saha, R., Kaur, J., Kathuria, S., & Paul, J. (2021). Factors impacting innovation performance for entrepreneurs in India. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 27(2), 356-377.
- Kim, S. H., & Nam, S. (2004). Across the threshold: Role of performance and compatibility in innovative new products' market penetration. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *33*(8), 689-699.
- Kitzinger, J. (1994). The methodology of Focus Groups: The importance of interaction between research participants. Sociology of Health & Illness, 16(1), 103-121.
- Kombe, V. (2023). Effects of Financial Innovations on Performance of Commercial Banks in Kenya. *African Journal of Commercial Studies*, 2(1), 12-26.
- Kotler, P., & Armstrong, G. (2021). Principles of Marketing (18th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Latzer, H., Matsuyama, K., & Parenti, M. (2019). Reconsidering the market size effect in innovation and growth. *Global Poverty Research Lab Working Paper*, (19-106).

- Liu, L., Ding, T., & Wang, H. (2022). Digital economy, technological innovation and green high-quality development of industry: A study case of China. *Sustainability*, 14(17), 11078.
- Morgan, D. L., & Krueger, R. A. (2018). The Focus Group Kit: Volumes 1-6. Sage Publications.
  - Nambisan, S., Lyytinen, K., & Yoo, Y. (2020). Digital innovation: towards a transdisciplinary perspective. *Handbook of digital innovation*, 2-12.
    - Othman, A. H. A., Alhabshi, S. M., Kassim, S., & Sharofiddin, A. (2020). The impact of cryptocurrencies market development on banks' deposits variability in the GCC region. *Journal of Financial Economic Policy*, 12(2), 161-184.
    - Ratchford, B. T. (2019). The impact of digital innovations on marketing and consumers.

      In *Marketing in a Digital World* (Vol. 16, pp. 35-61). Emerald Publishing Limited.

      Rogers, E. M. (1962). *Diffusion of innovations*. Free Press.
    - Mwenda, D., & Makena, M. (2018). The impact of mobile banking on the performance of commercial banks in Kenya. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management*, 6(1), 17-31.
- Dawes, J. (2018). The Ansoff matrix: A legendary tool, but with two logical problems. *But with Two Logical Problems (February 27, 2018)*.
  - Dearing, J. W., & Cox, J. G. (2018). Diffusion of innovations theory, principles, and practice. *Health affairs*, *37*(2), 183-190.

- Khajezadeh, M., Niasar, M. S. F., Asli, S. A., Davari, D. D., Godarzi, M., & Asgari, Y. (2019).
   Application of neural network in portfolio product companies: Integration of Boston
   Consulting Group Matrix and Ansoff Matrix. *International Journal of Economics and Management Engineering*, 13(6), 821-825.
- Okour, M. K., Chong, C. W., & Abdel Fattah, F. A. M. (2021). Knowledge management systems usage: application of diffusion of innovation theory. *Global Knowledge, Memory and Communication*, 70(8/9), 756-776.
  - Sartipi, F. (2020). Diffusion of innovation theory in the realm of environmental construction. *Journal of Construction Materials*, *1*(4), 2-4.
- Tsatsoula, E. (2018). Application of Ansoff's Matrix-Methodology: Marketing Growth Strategies for Products.
- Zanjani, S., Iranzadeh, S., Khadivi, A., & Feghhi Farahmand, N. (2020). Designing a Corporate Growth Strategy Based on Ansoff Matrix Using Fuzzy Inference System. *Innovation Management in Defensive Organizations*, 3(2), 151-178.
- Ngugi, J. W. (2019). Challenges and Prospects of Mobile Banking in Kenya: A Case Study of Equity Bank Limited. *International Journal of Management and Commerce Innovations*, 7(2), 21-31.
- World Bank. (2019). Kenya Economic Update: The Role of Innovation in Driving Productivity.

  Retrieved from
  - https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/32488/138465-REVISED-Kenya-Economic-Update-12.2018.pdf

Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of Innovations (5th ed.). Free Press.

Stewart, D. W., & Shamdasani, P. N. (2015). Focus Groups: Theory and Practice (3rd ed.). Sage
Publications.

Westerman, G., Bonnet, D., & McAfee, A. (2014). Leading digital: Turning technology into business transformation. *Harvard Business Review Press*.

YuSheng, K., & Ibrahim, M. (2019). Service innovation, service delivery and customer satisfaction and loyalty in the banking sector of Ghana. *International journal of bank marketing*, *37*(5), 1215-1233.

## APPENDIX

# **Appendix I: Interview Guide**

The objective of this study was to determine the relationship between digital innovations and market penetration at KCB Bank Kenya Ltd.

# **Digital Innovation**

- 1. Can you describe the key digital innovations that KCB Bank has implemented in recent years to enhance its services and customer experience?
- 2. How has KCB leveraged digital technologies to expand its market presence, both locally and internationally?
- 3. What specific digital channels and platforms has KCB Bank used to reach a wider customer base and increase market penetration?
- 4. Please provide some of the successful digital initiatives that have led to increased market share or customer acquisition for KCB Bank?
- 5. How does KCB Bank measure the impact of digital innovations on its market penetration efforts? Are there specific metrics or KPIs in place?
- 6. What role has data analytics played in identifying market penetration opportunities and optimizing digital strategies at KCB Bank?
- 7. How does KCB Bank ensure that its digital innovations align with customer preferences and market demands?

## **Market Penetration**

- 8. What challenges or obstacles has KCB Bank encountered in implementing digital innovations for market penetration, and how were they addressed?
- 9. Are there specific market segments or regions where digital innovations have had a particularly significant impact on market penetration for KCB Bank?
- 10. How does KCB Bank maintain a balance between its traditional banking channels and digital offerings to maximize market penetration?
- 11. Can you share insights into the customer feedback and reactions to KCB Bank's digital innovations in terms of market penetration?
- 12. How does KCB Bank handle issues related to data privacy and security in the context of digital innovations and market penetration?

## **Digital Innovations and Market Penetration**

- 13. Are there plans to further invest in or expand digital innovation initiatives to increase market penetration at KCB Bank?
- 14. What strategies has KCB Bank employed to stay competitive in the rapidly evolving digital banking landscape and maintain its market share?
- 15. How does KCB Bank collaborate with fintech partners or other stakeholders to drive digital innovations and market penetration?
- 16. Can you describe any specific success stories or case studies that demonstrate the relationship between digital innovations and market penetration at KCB Bank?
- 17. How does KCB Bank adapt its digital strategies and innovations to cater to different customer segments and demographics in various markets?

8. What future trends or technologies do you believe will continue to shape the relationship
between digital innovations and market penetration for KCB Bank?

# **Appendix II: Data Collection Letter**



# UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

# FACULTY OF BUSINESS AND MANAGEMENT SCIENCES OFFICE OF THE DEAN

Telegrams: "Varsity", P.O. Box 30197-00100, G.P.O.

Telephone: 020 491 0000 Nairobi, Kenya

VOIP: 9007/9008 Email: <u>fob-graduatestudents@uonbi.ac.ke</u>

Mobile: 254-724-200311 Website: business.uonbi.ac.ke

Our Ref: **D61/6334/2017** November 20, 2023

National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation NACOSTI Headquarters
Upper Kabete, Off Waiyaki Way
P. O. Box 30623- 00100

**NAIROBI** 

#### RE: INTRODUCTION LETTER: JACKLINE ATIENO MAGAK

The above named is a registered Masters of Business Administration candidate at the University of Nairobi, Faculty of Business and Management Sciences. She is conducting research on "Digital Innovations and Market Penetration at Kcb Bank Kenya Limited."

The purpose of this letter is to kindly request you to assist and facilitate the student with necessary data which forms an integral part of the Project.

The information and data required is needed for academic purposes only and will be treated in **Strict-Confidence**.

Your co-operation will be highly appreciated.

Dean's Office
University of Nairobi
Faculty of Business
and Management Science
D A Rox 30197-00100, Nairobi

<u>PROF. JAMES NJIHIA</u> DEAN, FACULTY OF BUSINESS AND MANAGEMENT SCIENCES

JN/jkm